
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 
 

Time and Date 
10.00 am on Wednesday, 22 November, 2023 
 
Place 
Committee Room 3 - Council House, Coventry  
 

 

 
Public Business 
 
1. Apologies and Substitutions   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Minutes   

 
 (a) To agree the minutes of the previous meetings held on 25 October, 

2023 and 6 November, 2023  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 

 (b) Matters Arising   
 

4. Serious Violence Duty (SVD)  (Pages 13 - 16) 
 

 Report of the Director for Public Health and Wellbeing 
 

5. Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Work Programme and Outstanding 
Issues 2023/24  (Pages 17 - 22) 

 

 Report of the Chief Legal Officer 
 

6. Any Other Items of Public Business   
 

 Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a matter 
of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 
 

Private Business 
 
Nil 
 
 

Julie Newman, Chief Legal Officer, Council House, Coventry 
 
Tuesday, 14 November 2023 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Suzanne Bennett, Governance Services - Telephone: 024 7697 2299 E-mail: 
suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

 
 
Membership: Councillors N Akhtar (Chair), M Ali, P Male, C Miks, G Ridley, E Ruane, 
R Singh, R Thay (Deputy Chair) and CE Thomas 
 
By invitation Councillors P Akhtar, G Duggins,  AS Khan,   
 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 
 

Suzanne Bennett, Governance Services - Telephone: 024 7697 2299  
E-mail: suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee held at 10.00 am on 

Wednesday, 25 October 2023 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor N Akhtar (Chair) 

 Councillor M Ali 
Councillor P Male 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor G Ridley 
Councillor E Ruane 
Councillor R Singh 
Councillor R Thay 
Councillor CE Thomas 
 

Other Members: Councillor Duggins, Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Leadership  

 
Employees  
(by Service Area): 

 

 
Law and Governance 
 
Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services  
 
 
Business Investment 
and Culture  
 

 
O Aremu, T Robinson, C Sinclair, G Singh Sangha 
 
A Walster (Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services),  
P Mudhar 
 
 
A Williams (Director of Business Investment and Culture) 
S Weir 

  

Apologies: None 
 

 
Public Business 
 
15. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

16. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2023 were agreed and signed as a 
true record.  There were no matters arising.  
 

17. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Board agrees to exclude the press and public 
under Sections 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 relating to the 
private reports in Minute 23, 24 and 25 below headed ‘Coventry Municipal 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



 

 
– 2 – 

 

Holdings Limited Annual Performance Report year ended 31 March 2023’, 
‘Sherbourne Recycling Limited Annual Performance Report year ended 31 
March 2023 and ‘UKBIC Ltd Annual Performance Report year ended March 
31 2023 and 2023/24 Forecasts’ on the grounds that the reports involve the 
likely disclosure of information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. The grounds for privacy are that it contains 
information relating to the financial and business affairs of any person 
(including the authority holding that information). The public interest in 
maintaining the exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 
 

18. Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited Annual Performance Report year 
ended 31 March 2023  
 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Operation Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
which had been considered by the Coventry Shareholders Committee on 26 
September 2023.  The Annual Performance Report focussed on a backward look 
over the 12 months of operation from April 2022 to March 2023 for Coventry 
Municipal Holdings (CMH) and its subsidiaries which included the following 
entities: 
 

Coombe Abbey Park Limited (CAPL), including two subsidiaries: 
No Ordinary Hospitality Management Limited (NOHM) 
Coombe Abbey Park (LACo) Limited (CAPL LACo) 
 
Tom White Waste Limited (TWW), including two subsidiaries: 
A&M Metals & Waste Limited (A&M) 
Tom White Waste (LACo) Limited (TWW LACo) 
 
Coventry Regeneration Limited (CR) 
Coventry Technical Resources Limited (CTR) 
No Ordinary Hotels Limited (NOH)  

  

The Group Governance Agreement (GGA) required CMH to produce an Annual 
Performance Report looking back at the operation of the Group to the year-end 
31st March 2023. 
 
Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited (CMH) was established in November 2021 as 
an intermediary parent company to strengthen the governance arrangements for 
the Council's existing company investments. CMH acquired the share capital of 
Council owned subsidiaries following an allotment of shares. The Council remains 
the ultimate parent company for the companies within the CMH group. 
 
Coombe Abbey Park Limited (CAPL) was acquired by the Council in December 
2017. CAPL operated Coombe Abbey Hotel in the surroundings of Coombe Abbey 
Park. The Council already owned the freehold of the hotel, which is let on a long-
term lease to CAPL, held preference shares in the company and provided loan 
financing. The Council owned and operated Coombe Abbey Country Park, and the 
acquisition of the hotel management company provided an opportunity for the 
Council to consolidate its interest in an important leisure and cultural destination in 
the city. Following the acquisition, all future dividends were due to the Council as 
sole shareholder. 

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

 
CAPL is operating a 15-month financial year from 1st January 2022 to 31st March 
2023. This would align the company’s annual reporting date with the Council and 
the other companies within the CMH group for future years. This approach met a 
recommendation made by the Council’s external auditor. CAPL’s financial year will 
run from April to March from 2023/24 onwards. 
 
Tom White Waste Limited (TWW) was acquired by the Council in March 2020. The 
Council aimed to achieve significant service benefits due to the synergies with 
internal services and the competitive advantage of becoming the largest 
Commercial Waste service in the city as a combined entity. TWW would also 
provide financial returns to support the Council’s budgetary position. 
 
Coventry Technical Resources Limited (CTR) held the consideration for the sale of 
the shares in Arena Coventry Limited in 2014/15. These funds were due be 
transferred to the Council in 2023/24 following a restructure of the balance sheet 
for CTR.  
 
A corresponding private report detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 23 below refers).  
 
The Board questioned Officers and received responses on several matters 
including: 
 

 Reasons for the report also having a separate Private report which would 
be considered in Private session. 

 Funding for future restorations. 
 
In noting the report, the Board asked that consideration by given to receiving 
future reports after the audited accounts were published in order that the 
information currently contained within the private reports would then be in the 
public domain.  
 

19. Sherbourne Recycling Limited Annual Performance Report year ended 31 
March 2023  
 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
which had been considered by the Coventry Shareholder Committee on 26 
September 2023.  The Annual Performance Report was focused on a backward 
look over the 12 months of operation from April 2022 to March 2023 for 
Sherbourne Recycling Limited (SRL). The report had been brought to the Coventry 
Shareholder Committee to enable the Council’s interest in the company to be 
monitored and for the assessment of performance made by company 
management to be accepted by the Shareholder. 
 
The Shareholders Agreement required SRL to produce an Annual Performance 
Report looking back on the operation of the company for the year ended 31 March 
2023. 
 

Sherbourne Recycling Limited (SRL) was incorporated in February 2021 after the 
successful completion and contract award for the design and construction of a 
Material Recycling Facility (MRF) located in Coventry. Coventry City Council and 

Page 5



 

 
– 4 – 

 

seven other local authorities (North Warwickshire Borough Council, Nuneaton and 
Bedworth Borough Council, Rugby Borough Council, Stratford-on-Avon District 
Council, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, Walsall Council and Warwick 
District Council) jointly own the company and will be customers of the facility once 
it is operational in the Autumn of 2023. 
 
The Council was the largest single shareholder having invested £0.215m to 
acquire a 21.50% shareholding. Walsall Council holds 19.66% and Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough Council holds 14.63%. The shareholding proportions were 
based on the waste tonnage that each authority was projected to deliver to the 
facility in 2018. This was agreed by all parties at the time and had been locked into 
the Shareholder Agreement that governs the relationship between the eight 
shareholders. 

 
The rationale for investing in the company was to have greater control over the 
processing of the recycled waste material collected by each Council. 
 
As the construction phase draws to a close, the facility was preparing to become 
operational from Autumn 2023. 
 
A corresponding private report detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 24 below refers).  
 
The Board questioned Officers and received responses on several matters 
including: 
 

 Transfer financing 

 Accounts and shares for Sherbourne Recycling Ltd 

 Use of AI at the facility 
 

In noting the report, Members agreed that a site visit to the Material Recycling 
Facility it would benefit their understanding of the company’s operations.  
 

 
20. UKBIC Ltd Annual Performance Report year ended 31 March 2023 and 

UKBIC 2023/24 Forecasts  
 
The Board considered and noted a report of the Chief Operating Officer (Section 
151 Officer) which had been considered by the Coventry Shareholder Committee 
on 26 September 2023. 
 
The Annual Performance Report focused on a backward look over the period of 
operation covering 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023 for UKBIC Ltd and provided a 
summary of forecasts for the coming financial year.  
 
The UK Battery Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC) Limited was a state of the art, 
20,000m2 battery manufacturing research and development facility on Rowley 
Road which was formally opened in July 2021. UKBIC was an open access facility 
designed to allow UK manufacturers to trial and industrialise the next generation of 
batteries for electric vehicles and other applications, which is essential to the UK’s 
net zero ambitions. 

 

Page 6



 

 
– 5 – 

 

Between November 2017 and October 2019, the Council approved the 
acceptance of £108m grant funding from Innovate UK’s Faraday Battery 
Challenge towards the total cost of £126m to develop the UKBIC facility.  The 
remaining £18m was provided in the form of an £18m repayable grant (essentially 
an interest free loan) from WMCA. 

 
The Faraday Battery Challenge was established by government in 2018 to invest 
in research and innovation projects, and facilities, to drive the growth of a strong 
battery business in the UK. Securing UKBIC in the Coventry area was critical to 
the future of the area’s world-class automotive and advanced manufacturing 
cluster. 
 
UKBIC Ltd was established to operate the facility. CCC owns 100% of the shares 
in UKBIC Ltd and has two CCC directors who sit on the board, including the Chair. 
The remaining board seats are made of up of the UKBIC Managing Director and 
Finance Director, a representative from Government’s Advanced Propulsion 
Centre (APC) and independent battery/automotive industry experts. In addition, 
the Faraday Challenge Director attends the board as an observer. 
 
The Faraday Battery Challenge reviews and approves the UKBIC Ltd business 
plan on a regular basis to ensure that the business is sustainable and that it was 
meeting the technology needs of the UK automotive industry, and was currently 
providing core operational funding to UKBIC Ltd. 
 
A corresponding private report detailing confidential financial matters was also 
submitted for consideration (Minute 25 below refers).  
 
The Board questioned Officers and received responses on several matters 
including the importance of continued scrutiny of the financial element of the 
operation and in line with this Members requested attendance data on their Board 
meetings.  The Board also agreed that it would welcome a site visit to UKBIC and 
Officers confirmed this would be arranged.  
 

21. Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Outstanding Issues and Work Programme 
2023/2024  
 
The Board noted the Work Programme.   
 
There were no outstanding issues.  
 

22. Any Other Items of Public Business  
 
There were no other items of public business.  
 

23. Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited Annual Performance Report year 
ended 31 March 2023  
 
Further to Minute 18 above, the Board noted a private item of the Chief Operating 
Officer (Section 151 Officer) which set out the commercially confidential matters 
relating to the Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited Annual Performance Report. 
 

Page 7



 

 
– 6 – 

 

24. Sherbourne Recycling Limited Annual Performance Report year ended 31 
March 2023  
 
Further to Minute 19 above, the Board noted a private item of the Chief Operating 
Officer (Section 151 Officer) which set out the commercially confidential matters 
relating to the Sherbourne Recycling Limited Annual Performance Report. 
 

25. UKBIC Ltd Annual Performance Report year ended March 31st 2023 and 
UKBIC 2023/24 Forecasts  
 
Further to Minute 20 above, the Board noted a private item of the Chief Operating 
Officer (Section 151 Officer) which set out the commercially confidential matters 
relating to the UKBIC Ltd Annual Performance report. 
 

26. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  
 
There were no other items of private business.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 12.45 pm)  

  

Page 8



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee held at 1.00 pm on 

Monday, 6 November 2023 
 

 
Present: 

 

Members: Councillor N Akhtar (Chair) 

 Councillor R Thay (Deputy Chair) 

 Councillor M Ali 
Councillor P Male 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor G Ridley 
Councillor E Ruane 
Councillor R Singh 
Councillor R Thay 
Councillor CE Thomas 
 

Other Members (by 
invitation: 

 
Councillor A S Khan – Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Equalities  

 
Employees (by Service Area):  

 
Law and Governance 
 
 
Transportation, Highways 
and Sustainability 
 

 
J Adams, O Aremu, A Chowns, G Holmes, L Nagle, 
M Salmon 
 
 
J Seddon 
 

Apologies: Councillor G Duggins (invited)  
 

 
Public Business 
 
27. Declarations of Interest  

 
Councillor Ridley declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter in minute 
28 below, headed ‘Amendment of the City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order 
(PSPO)’, he left the meeting for consideration of the item. 
 

28. Amendment of the City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO)  
 
Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee considered a report of the Chief Legal Officer, 
that would also be considered by the Cabinet at their meeting on 7th November 
2023, on a proposed amendment to the City Centre Public Spaces Protection 
Order relating to people on bikes in defined pedestrian areas of the city centre. 
Appendices to the report included: the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014, Section 59 Public Spaces Protection Order (City Centre) 2023; a map of 
the City Centre area covered by the PSPO; the consultation document and 
responses, including responses from key partners; and enforcement activity for the 

Page 9



 

 
– 2 – 

 

existing Order. The Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities attended the 
meeting for consideration of this matter. 
 
There had been a visible increase in the number of e-bikes, cycles and e-scooters 
using pedestrian areas of the city centre, namely, Broadgate, Upper Precinct, 
Market Way, Smithford Way, Shelton Square, Hertford Street and Bull Yard. This 
had led to concerns being raised by people feeling unsafe. 
 
The level of concern had been raised particularly due to the volume of e-bikes and 
motorcycles that looked like bikes being used by delivery teams. Some people had 
also been observed to be riding recklessly and in a dangerous manner and the 
speed of some of e-bikes, e-scooters and cycles made some pedestrians feel 
unsafe.  
 
The Council wanted to ensure that people felt safe when visiting the city centre 
and mitigate against any potential accidents whilst also recognising the importance 
of enabling cyclists to travel around the city. 
 
One option that could potentially help to manage this emerging issue was an 
amendment to the current City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) 
requiring people on bikes to dismount in defined pedestrian areas of the city 
centre. To understand what city centre users felt about this proposal a 
comprehensive consultation was undertaken into the stopping of e-bikes, e-
scooters and push cycles being ridden in the pedestrianised area of the city 
centre.  The report outlined the outcome of that consultation and supported a 
proposal to amend the current PSPO. 
 
Formal consultation responses, detailed in Appendices to the report, were 
received from Transport for West Midlands, the West Midland Mayor’s Walking 
and Cycling Ambassador and Councillors all asking if a blanket ban on all bikes 
was necessary or proportional to the current issues.  Concerns were raised that it 
could be counterproductive and send out contradictory messages about how 
cyclists are treated in the city.  
 
Some respondents to the consultation also opposed the blanket ban and 
commented that we should target only e-bikes as they caused the majority of the 
problems.  
 
The Committee considered the report and its appendices, questioned the Cabinet 
Member for Policing and Equalities and officers and received responses as 
summarised below:  
 

 Concerns around enforcement of the additional amendments to the PSPO, in 
terms of police capacity and priority within the city centre 

 Identifying key locations in the city centre for deployment of enforcement 
personnel 

 The powers of the police and how the Council would be working with the 
police and partners including the BID – collective approach 

 How pressure could be put on delivery companies and restaurants to 
encourage responsible riding in the city centre 

 How best to communicate the additions to the PSPO, including communication 
with schools and colleges as well as local news outlets 

Page 10



 

 
– 3 – 

 

 The emphasis on education and changing the behaviour of e-cyclists and e-
scooter riders 

 Local Government Association applying collective pressure to address this 
issue nationally 

 The possibility of using planning and licensing powers to address the issue 
longer term 

 Potentially identifying parking areas or ranks for delivery drivers 

 The possibility of using barriered zones to narrow areas of delivery pick up 
operation 

 The use of visibility clothing and bike lights to enable deliverers to be seen 

 The negative economic impact of not just e-bikes and e-scooters in the city 
centre but anti-social behaviour more widely 

 Awaiting a new Transport Bill – will determine and provide law on categories of 
illegal e-bikes going forward 

 
A briefing note setting out the comments and recommendations made by the 
Committee would be circulated to the Cabinet for consideration at their meeting on 
7th November 2023 when considering the report. 
 
RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee: 
 
1) Supports the intentions of the recommendations in the report. 
 
2) Recommends that Cabinet support the recommendations as set out in 

the report. 
 
3) Recommends that Cabinet notes Scrutiny Co-ordination’s concerns 

about enforcement of the PSPO. 
 
4) Recommends that the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities 

writes to both the Police Chief Constable and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner requesting a higher policing presence in the city centre 
and that they use their powers to seize illegal e-vehicles, and that a 
copy of the letter be circulated to the Committee. 

 
29. Any Other Items of Public Business  

 
There were no other items of public business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 2.35 pm)  

  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 Briefing Note  
  

 

To:  Scrutiny Coordination Committee  
 
Date: 22nd November 2023 
 

15. Subject: Serious Violence Duty (SVD) 
 

 

 

   
 

1  Purpose of the Note  

1.1 To brief the Scrutiny Coordination Committee on the Serious Violence Duty, which 
imposes a legal duty on the local authority to tackle serious violence using a partnership 
approach. Furthermore, to brief the Committee on the Community Initiative to Reduce 
Violence (CIRV) a matched funded intervention project to work with people aged 14 or 
more who are at risk or who are experiencing violence.  

1.2 Further reading and information is available in the published Home Office Statutory 
Guidance. 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 The Scrutiny Coordination Committee is recommended to: 

1) Consider the information provided in the Briefing Note. 

2) Provide comments to be considered as part of the Serious Violence Duty. 

3 Background and Information 

3.1 In response to rising levels of knife crime and other types of violence across the UK, 
Government has placed a new duty on specified authorities (of which the local authority 
is one) to take a partnership approach to tackling serious violence.  

3.2 The Duty, which came into force in January 2023, arises from the Police, Crime, 
Courts, and Sentencing Act 2022 and recognises that complex issues like violence 
require a multifaceted approach with a range of partners taking responsibility and action.  

3.3 The specified authorities include Local Authorities, Police, Fire and Rescue, Integrated 
Care Boards, Justice (probation & Youth Justice). Other key stakeholders should be 
consulted and have a duty to cooperate with the specified authorities, this includes 
education partners and prisons.  

3.4 In the West Midlands, the Police and Crime Commissioner will be responsible for 
developing and publishing a response strategy informed by the data gathering and 
analysis work which has taken place across all 7 local authority areas.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1125001/Final_Serious_Violence_Duty_Statutory_Guidance_-_December_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1125001/Final_Serious_Violence_Duty_Statutory_Guidance_-_December_2022.pdf


   
 

 2 

3.5 Coventry partners have been working in close cooperation with the regional violence 
reduction partnership (VRP) to prepare for the Duty since 2022. Using the local plans, 
the Police & Crime Commissioner will submit a regional response to the Home Office by 
31/01/2024, the deadline. The Regional response strategy must be reviewed annually 
thereafter to ensure that responses to violence take account of changing circumstances. 

3.6 The VRP hosted a series of online events (which were publicised locally) to raise 
awareness of the new Duty. The VRP also worked with Crest Advisory to assess the 
regions readiness; the region was assessed as “preparing.” 

3.7 Crest Advisory identified 4 key factors which impact violence and were common to all 7 
local authority areas: 

1) Education 

2) Substance Misuse 

3) Demography 

4) Deprivation 

3.8 Other factors of note which were common to the whole region were as follows: 

 Early identification of Adverse Childhood Experiences (trauma) was a priority.  

 Violence was heavily concentrated in a small number of areas.  

 The need for robust commissioning processes and better processes to measure 

impact of commissioned services.  

 Three key headlines from communities: Feelings of safety (after dark); gaps in 

responding to vulnerability; and concerns about addressing the drivers of violence.  

 The importance of the educational sector in addressing key risk factors effectively 

and the need to understand what works in education settings. 

3.9 The VRP have prepared a draft 3-year violence reduction strategy. The draft strategy 
has identified 5 overarching themes: 

1) Prevention across the life course (the public health approach) 

2) Development of a sustainable, community and youth led approach to violence 
reduction. 

3) Building closer regional partnerships that supports innovation. 

4) Development of a West Midlands wide movement that aims for a violence free 
region. 

5) Upscale delivery of evidence-based programmes in schools. 

3.10 Coventry completed a strategic needs assessment in March 2023. Key findings and 
recommendations were identified. Based on this, a local draft action plan has been 
developed. This draft plan was shared with the VRP who used it to inform their 3-year 
draft strategy. 

3.11 The key themes for consideration which emerged in the Coventry needs assessment 
were as follows: 

 Identify those who would benefit from earlier intervention. 

 Partners should make better use of data to assist in the identification of those in 
need of support (subject to general data protection safeguards). 

Page 14



   
 

 3 

 Coventry partners should review their response to “hidden harms” e.g., trauma in 
childhood which may lead to adverse outcomes over time, including higher risk of 
violence. 

 Policing colleagues should continue to prepare for and mitigate seasonal variations 
or patterns in weapon related violence. A priority is to address knife possessions 
and firearms discharges in the city. 

 Better use of data (following a public health approach) should inform commissioning 
making decisions across the partnership. 

 The city should work closely with the emergency department at University Hospital 
Coventry & Warwickshire to support those who have sustained injuries due to 
violence. 

 The partners should ensure that wherever possible they are acting early and 
addressing the root causes of violence, supporting those most at risk and monitoring 
the outcomes of the work through the Police and Crime Board. 

 The partnership should communicate internally and externally how they are tackling 
serious violence and any positive. 

3.12 The city has already been taking a proactive approach to tackling violence since 2019. 
There are several initiatives across the city to engage with young people to try and divert 
them away from violence or prevent them becoming exploited. One such initiative is the 
Community Initiative to Reduce Violence (CIRV). 

4 The Community Initiative to Reduce Violence (CIRV) 

4.1 This came about through a substantial investment from the Youth Endowment Fund 
which the partnership assisted the police and in securing. West Midlands Police have 
also made a substantial investment in the project in terms of staff. The team consists of 
police staff who are now specifically working within the CIRV team. The project went live 
in April in both Coventry and Wolverhampton. The project is subject to rigorous 
academic evaluation (paid for by the Youth Endowment Fund) to determine whether the 
intervention is effective. From July to September there were over 260 referrals to CIRV. 
Not all referrals fit the criteria, and some, whilst fitting the criteria, may refuse to engage 
as the process is voluntary. Where someone referred is out of area or unsuitable for any 
other reason, they are referred to alternative sources of support. As the project is still in 
the early stages, it is too soon to discuss outcomes for those referred. 

4.2 The CIRV process is detailed and complex but is primarily designed to engage anyone 
over 14 years and connect them to an exit pathway from gangs, violence and county 
lines. It also coordinates disruptive functions for those who are primarily adults who have 
been referred, who are criminally active yet fail or refuse to engage. 

Page 15



   
 

 4 

4.3 The process can be found here https://www.cirv.co.uk/programme-outline in more detail, 
but in summary it involves the following steps. 

4. Health Inequalities Impact 

4.1 Tackling violence and the root causes of violence should be a priority for all services in 
Coventry. Based on Home Office data from 2018, each episode of violence with injury 
costs the public purse an estimated £14050,1 the actual cost is likely to be far higher in 
2023/24 given inflation and other cost increases across the system. There is a large body 
of academic research which indicates that prevention of violence supports better health 
outcomes in the population.  

 
4.2 Violence undermines people’s health by causing injury, disability, and premature death. 

The mental health impact for individuals as well the communities they live in cannot be 
underestimated. Trauma is linked to higher risk of violence, therefore breaking this cycle 
is crucially important. There is a strong link between areas of deprivation and higher rates 
of crime. Coventry as a city and in particular wards, ranks highly on the Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation; therefore it is not surprising that as a City we see higher than average levels 
of violence. 

 
4.3 Addressing the root causes of violence including: poverty, parental neglect, childhood 

adversity, living in a high crime neighbourhood, substance misuse and low levels of 
educational attainment/school engagement, should improve health outcomes across the 
population. 

 
Name: Allison Duggal 
Job Title: Director of Public Health & Wellbeing,  
Contact Details: allsion.duggal@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Prepared by: Caroline Ryder, Programme Manager 
Caroline.ryder@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

                                                
1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5b684f22e5274a14f45342c9/the-economic-and-social-costs-of-

crime-horr99.pdf 

Page 16

https://www.cirv.co.uk/programme-outline
mailto:allsion.duggal@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.ryder@coventry.gov.uk


SCRUCO Work Programme 2023-24 

1 
 

 
Please see page 2 onwards for background to items 

28th June 2023 

Informal All Scrutiny Planning Meeting 

12th July 2023 

Police and Crime Board Strategic Assessment (deferred from April 2023) 

Domestic Abuse Update 

20th September 2023 

One Coventry Climate Change Strategy – Consultation and Engagement Feedback 
Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 

Complaints Policy and Procedure – Task and Finish Group 

25th October 2023 

Council Subsidiaries Annual Reports 22/23 

a)Coventry Municipal Holdings 

b)UKBIC 
c)Sherbourne Recycling 

6th November 2023 

Amendments to City Centre PSPO – consultation findings 

22nd November 2023 

Serious Violence Duty 

20th December 2023 

Coventry City of Culture Legacy 

One Coventry Annual Performance Report (Cabinet Report) 

24th January 2024 

One Coventry Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 

21st February 2024 

Local Policing Update 

20th March 2024 

Drugs and Alcohol Strategy 

24th April 2024 

City Centre PSPO Monitoring 

2023/2024 

CCC Transformation Programme 

Health Inequalities and Marmot 
Spon End Regeneration Project 
Strategic Energy Partnership 
Adaption and Resilience Plan 

Last updated 14th November 2023 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



SCRUCO Work Programme 2023-24 

2 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ 
Lead Officer 

28th June 
2023 

Informal All Scrutiny 
Planning Meeting 

  

12th July 
2023 

Police and Crime Board 
Strategic Assessment 
(deferred from April 2023) 

To consider the strategic assessment and priorities for the coming 
year on community safety issues. 

Cllr AS Khan 

 Domestic Abuse Update An update following meeting on 22 June 22 to include progress on 
early intervention 

Alison Duggal 
Cllr P Akhtar 

    

20th 
September 
2023 

One Coventry Climate 
Change Strategy – 
Consultation and 
Engagement Feedback 

To look at the details of the feedback on the Climate Change 
Strategy and how this will be reflected in the final strategy. 

Cllr O’Boyle 
Colin Knight 
Rhian Palmer 
Bret Willers 
 

 Scrutiny Annual Report 
2022-23 

To consider the 2022-23 Annual Report Cllr N Akhtar 

 Complaints Policy and 
Procedure – Task and 
Finish Group 

To establish a task and finish group to feed into the review of the 
Council’s current complaints policy and procedure following on from 
the Local Government Ombudsman’s report. 

Cllr Brown, Cllr Welsh 
Adrienne Bellingeri 
Rachael Sherwood 
 

25th 
October 
2023 

Council Subsidiaries 
Annual Reports 22/23 
  a)Coventry Municipal 
Holdings 
  b)UKBIC 
  c)Sherbourne Recycling 

SCRUCO will receive the annual report of CMH, UKBIC and 
Sherbourne Recycling for consideration. 

Andrew Walster 
Cllr Duggins 

6th 
November 
2023 

Amendments to City 
Centre PSPO – 
consultation findings 

To consider the outcome of the consultation on changes to the city 
centre PSPO ahead of a decision by Cabinet 

Davina Blackburn/ Joy 
Adams 
Cllr AS Khan 

P
age 18



SCRUCO Work Programme 2023-24 

3 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ 
Lead Officer 

22nd 
November 
2023 

Serious Violence Duty The local authority has a statutory duty to comply with the new 
serious violence duty. The Council in partnership must produce an 
operational plan around how we are going to tackle serious 
violence as a city 

Cllr AS Khan Allison 
Duggal 
Caroline Ryder 

20th 
December 
2023 

Coventry City of Culture 
Legacy  

To consider the lasting legacy from City of Culture 2022 including 
impact on the Council.  

Cllr Duggins 
David Nuttall 

 One Coventry Annual 
Performance Report 
(Cabinet Report) 

To scrutinise the One Coventry Annual Performance report and for 
Scrutiny Board Chairs to identify areas of work for their Boards to 
scrutinise in detail. 

Cllr Duggins 
Allison Duggal 
Kirston Nelson 

24th 
January 
2024 

One Coventry Climate 
Change Strategy and 
Action Plan 

To consider the final strategy before it is considered by Cabinet Cllr O’Boyle 
Colin Knight 
Rhian Palmer 
Bret Willers 

21st 
February 
2024 

Local Policing Update To follow up from the item in 2023 on the local policing model  

    

20th March 
2024 

Drugs and Alcohol 
Strategy 

To take an update following the meeting on the 14th March 2023 
(2024) To include Rough Sleeping Drug and Alcohol Treatment 
Grant - A progress report including data, logic model evaluation 
framework  

Allison Duggal 
Cllr Caan 

    

24th April 
2024 

City Centre PSPO 
Monitoring 

As requested, Scruco will consider progress on implementation of 
the new PSPO agreed at Cabinet 13th June 2023 

Liam Nagle 
AS Khan 

    

2023/2024    

    

 CCC Transformation 
Programme 

To review the impact of the CCC Transformation Programme and 
funding associated with it. 

Cllr Duggins 
Kirston Nelson 

P
age 19



SCRUCO Work Programme 2023-24 

4 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet Member/ 
Lead Officer 

 Health Inequalities and 
Marmot  

To look at what the Council is doing to address health inequalities 
and to monitor progress 

Allison Duggal 
Cllr Caan 

 Spon End Regeneration 
Project 

How is it funded? How have people have been relocated? What are 
the plans? How are plans communicated with the community? 

 

 Strategic Energy 
Partnership 

To consider the delivery of the 5 year plan and the 5 key projects as 
part of the partnership 

Cllr O’Boyle 
Colin Knight 
Rhian Palmer 
Bret Willers 

 Adaption and Resilience 
Plan 

To consider what the Council is doing to protect the city from the 
impact of climate change, including partners involved in the delivery 
and represented on the Climate Change Board 

Cllr O’Boyle 
Colin Knight 
Rhian Palmer 
Bret Willers 

 
 

P
age 20



SCRUCO Work Programme 2023-24 

5 
 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a To agree the minutes of the previous meetings held on 25 October, 2023 and 6 November, 2023
	3) b Minutes 6 November, 2023

	4 Serious Violence Duty (SVD)
	5 Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee Work Programme and Outstanding Issues 2023/24

